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Transcript

Andrea L'Hommedieu: This is an interview with Kermit Lipez on Septaen 20th, the year
2001, at his office in Portland, Maine. If you cdstart by giving me your full name and
spelling it?

Kermit Lipez: My full name is Kermit Victor Lipez, K-E-R-M-I-TV-I-C-T-O-R, L-I-P-E-Z.
AL:  And where and when were you born?

KL: | was born in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania on Asidhe 18th, 1941, although Philadelphia
is not my hometown. | was there | gather just for theppse of being born. I'm actually from a
small town in central Pennsylvania about two huddnéles from Philadelphia, a town called

Lock Haven, Pennsylvania, which is where | grew up.

AL: And that's where you grew up.



KL: Yes.
AL:  What type of a community was that?

KL: It's a beautiful little town on the banks oét8usquehanna River. The nearest larger
community of significance | guess would be Statd€ge, Pennsylvania where Penn State
University is located. Lock Haven is a towtiil of about twelve thousand people, perhaps best
known for being the home of Piper Aircraft Corpavatwhere the small Piper planes were built,
Piper was located there for a long time.

AL: What, so is that what the economic driving éowas in your community?

KL: It was, along with a large paper company, wihiatl located in Lock Haven for many
years. So the leading industries were the Piperraift and the paper, this paper company. |
don't remember, | think it was originally owned fgrhaps the Curtis family. It's gone through a
number of hands over the years, and actually itmast recently owned by Hammermill which
also owned, at one time, a paper company in Ma8wcentral Pennsylvania, like Maine, is a
heavily forested area and the paper industry wasyaimportant part of the, a great part of the
economy in central Pennsylvania as it is here imkla

AL: And politically, what was the atmosphere in tvn? Do you have a sense of that?

KL: Alittle bit. My father was the, after a cares a small town lawyer, he was the, became
the county judge. Actually officially referred & the Court of Common Pleas, and that was an
elective office so he had to run for office, sabllan awareness of politics. My father was a
Republican | think because his father had beenpuRiEan, but my father was | think it's fair to
say a very open minded Republican who voted fob#st candidate in the state and national
elections as well. But he had to be a, he hac tiovolved politically so, yes, | had some
political awareness.

That part of Pennsylvania is, and to this daygeigainly much more Republican than it is
Democratic. In Pennsylvania politics, central Psvania, is considered a strong Republican
area, whereas the cities, Philadelphia in eastenm$¥ylvania and Pittsburgh in western
Pennsylvania are really the Democratic stronghadg’d say the politics of Lock Haven were
more, certainly more Republican than Democratic.

AL: Was there any coal mining in the area? Or Wasih a different -?

KL: Not, it's a little further away. Not . . we did not have coalmines in Lock Haven. |
mean, there was a community about sixty miles avedled Philipsburg, Pennsylvania where my
aunt and uncle lived, they had coal mines the@th8 coalmines were not that far away, but the
paper industry was really why Lock Haven came to be

| mean, there used to be log runs, logs would béucther up the river and floated down the
Susquehanna and there was actually a lock, heeagatine Lock, that was used to help move the
logs down the river. And there was a large hotetre the loggers would rest, it was a haven for



the loggers, hence the name Haven. So the verg hack Haven really comes from its logging
paper industry history. And sadly it's, the pap@npany after being in Lock Haven for over a
hundred and twenty years | think is actually fipalosing its doors this fall. | still keep in

touch with what's going on in that community anatththe last of the big industries that's about
to leave Lock Haven. So it's a big blow, and afrse some of the same things are happening in
Maine, too.

AL: We've seen a lot of that in the last two yeatsially.
KL: We have, that's right, yeah, we have.

AL: If you were to look back in your memories oftckdHaven, yesterday and today as you
still keep in touch, and compare them with what'yeexperienced here in Maine, what are
some of the similarities and differences betweenplaces?

KL:  Well I think my interest in coming to a pladeel Maine, which was just real serendipity
and we may want to talk about that a little biefabut | think the, my interest in coming to a
place like Maine was because | grew up in a srmalhtin central Pennsylvania and like the
small town life very much, and recognized that Maivas a place that offered many of the same
gualities that made me feel good about growingug place like Lock Haven. Small towns are
wonderful places to raise families. You have a saielonging, you have a sense that you can
matter, you get a sense of continuity from knowpegple over a long period of time, people
care about each other. And those are aspecte dhdit | think are difficult to find in larger

cities. I've been in larger cities, I've workedarger cities, and those were good experiences,
but | was drawn to a place like Maine with smatlemmunities with the values that | think are
characteristic of smaller communities. So | thin& fact that | grew up in a small town added to
the attractiveness of a place like Maine for me.

AL: Now when you grew up, you decided to go toemmsl
KL: Idid.
AL:  Where did you attend college?

KL: | went to Haverford College, which is a smalagol just outside of Philadelphia, one of
the schools founded by the Quakers, along with@ashike Swarthmore and Bryn Mawr and
some others. And it's a great little school, | hagbod experience there.

AL: During your schooling were there any teacheas influenced you in, maybe in shaping
how you look at the world?

KL: | wish that | could say yes because it wouldhize to have such a memory, but | can't
honestly say that there was one professor whoyrball a profound effect on my view of the
world. But | will say that | had a freshman Engligacher named Jim Harper, now that | think
about it, who for the first time made me appreciatevalue and the difficulty of good writing. |
had done very little writing in high school, it jusasn't required of us, and so writing weekly



essays as we had to do in this freshman Englisiseauas a very big deal. And he was a, took
an enormous amount of time with us, criticized work with great care, and | think for the first
time made me realize the value of good writing,ithed work it requires, and | think instilled in
me a love of language that | really did not havietee So I, yeah, | think he would be the one
that | would remember from college | think as prallgaghe most important teacher | had.

AL: And you decided after to go to law school.
KL: 1did, | did.
AL: And was that from your father's background tedtyou in that direction, or -?

KL: I'm sure that had a big influence on me. Intasompletely single-minded about going to
law school. In fact, | actually started law schoght after college and decided maybe | had
made that decision a little precipitously so | askee folks at Yale Law School where | went
whether | could take a leave of absence and maytne dack in a year after trying some other
things and they said | could, and so | had a wdntlgear. | actually landed a job as a news
clerk at theNew York Times, which was fascinating. Then | ended up teachiaghiman English
at Penn State University for half a year. And tmoked at other things that interested me:
journalism, teaching. But | decided after all lodt that maybe law school was really what |
should do, so | went back to law school and | veagly for it this time, so | finished law school.
So |, yes, I'm sure my father's influence was irtgud in the choices that | made, but | did take
a close look at some other possibilities beforalynsettling on the law.

AL: And at what point were you an intern with Sen&lluskie? Was this immediately after
law school, or was there time in between?

KL: No, no it wasn't. After law school | spenteay with the Civil Rights division of the
Department of Justice. But it was during that yeaar the end of it, that | found out about the
possibility of a job in Maine. Which had nothirgdo with Senator Muskie. | heard from a
professor whom | had known well at Yale Law Schibalt the young governor of Maine, a

fellow by the name of Ken Curtis, was interestetlinmg perhaps as many as two people to
work on his staff. And | actually had always thbtid'm not sure why, but that working for a
governor would be just a wonderful job. And | leadually had an experience in Maine after my
sophomore year of college, | came to Maine to vaxla tennis counselor at a camp called Camp
Kennebec in the Belgrade Lakes region, and | haedol loved Maine. | thought it was just a
beautiful place, and so when | heard about thigpjudsibility | was very interested in it. And so

| came to Maine and interviewed with Governor Guatnd a couple of people on his staff and he
offered me a job, and that's how | came to MaiAed that was the, that would have been the
fall, September of 1968, yes.

AL: And so what was it was it like working for K€urtis?
KL: It was wonderful. It was everything that | have hoped for. Personally, Governor

Curtis, since then he's become a good friend sovinefer to him as Ken, but of course he was
Governor Curtis to me then, he was a wonderfulgets work for, very accessible, very



respectful of staff, fascinating to me because &g twying to do so many important things. He
had a large reform agenda, and one of the reabahbe wanted some help was because he
thought he needed help to carry out this large daen

He had not had too much success the first two y&ars administration and he recognized that
he needed some help and so he reached out fand.he had asked a wonderful man named Al
Mavrinac, M-A-V-R-I-N-A-C from, who was a professat Colby College to help him with his
legislative program, and Al had agreed that he @alal that but he could only do it part time.
So he really needed somebody who could be workmig foill time. And Al Mavrinac was one
of the people that | met when | came to Maine fgrinterviews and we got along well, and |
think Al told the governor that he thought | wolld a good choice to help him with the
legislative program. So | was really hired to h&lpMavrinac with the legislative program, and
it was just fascinating from day one. And that wasfocus, helping Al, and through him the
governor, to get the legislative program togetlerlie 104th Legislative Session.

AL: A lot of people have expressed how univerdéibd Ken Curtis is. I've tried to get a
sense in my interviews of understanding what @lieut him that's so likeable.

KL:  Well, I think there are many ingredients oftthkirst of all, he is a man without pretense,
without arrogance, without any need to impressdipdpoverbearing. He just. He's just very
down-to-earth, likes people, makes it obvious ttealikes people. He's a very comfortable
person to be with. He's got a wonderful senseuofdr. He is a remarkably upbeat personality,
he's one of those rare people who, no matter wipairsy in his life, and there have been many
hard things in his life, he always seems to makepople around him feel better. He is a large
presence wherever he is without trying to be aglgmgsence. It's just that the natural force of
his personality. And he has a genuine fondnespdople, he truly cares about the people
around him and he cares about the lives of peopllea larger sense, and that's one of the
reasons he wanted to be governor, because he thitvaglthe people of Maine had been
shortchanged in many ways over the years and hel@tasmined to change that. And it was
that desire to make the lives of people betterdnate so many of his reforms.

He's just a very caring person, and people semsértinim. You know, and he really, he just
hasn't changed in the, my goodness, now the ougy years that I've known him. He has
changed, really hasn't changed at all. He'stktllsame very likeable, down-to-earth,
considerate person that he always has been. Swt'surprised when people still describe him
as one of the most beloved of the Maine politiciaHg's just a remarkably likeable, decent
human being.

AL: What were some of the tough issues, or bigessms that you had while working with
Governor Curtis?

KL:  Well, the issue that always comes to mind, laththk will always be associated with Ken
Curtis, is the adoption of the income tax. And thas the, that was in many ways the
centerpiece of his agenda for that legislativeisasd04th Legislative Session. And it was the
centerpiece not because he had any particular é&msdior taxes, but he simply understood that
without resources of revenue raised in the fainest possible it would simply not be possible to



carry out other reforms that were needed-- refammaiblic education, reforms in the university,
reforms in health care, reforms in government ranization and economic development. A lot
of those reforms, not all of them, some of themenasdructural, did not require any money, but a
lot of them simply required an infusion of new mgne make things happen. And so without
an income tax as the source of new revenue, d tbeaeforms that he cared about simply were
not, they were not going to happen. And of coarsgnew taxes are politically risky, but when
you not only add to the tax burden, but you do &b &whole new tax, and one that sounds
scary to a lot of people, a tax on their incoms,pblitically very explosive. So that, there's no
guestion that was the big battle of that 104th iBas# was | think the great triumph of that
session, and if Maine did not have that incomestarany of the advances that we've seen since
its adoption would not have happened, it seemseto Itnreally was a major achievement, which
continues to play an important role in the politi@ad social life of the state. So that was sbrt o
the big triumph.

AL: And as you said, it is a risky thing to intreéua new tax. And that was fairly close to the
reelection time, wasn't it?

KL: Indeed it was, yes.
AL: And he did squeeze by and become reelected.
KL: He did.

AL: How did that, what was it like during that tinperiod of the campaign. There must have
been some tense moments maybe, or -

KL: Well there were. | mean, he was running bekinedwvhole time. In fact, he was very
concerned, just to provide the context for his esns: Senator Muskie of course had run for
vice president in 1968 and had performed brilligrdind at the time of the 1970 elections here in
Maine there was already a bunch of talk of his ¢p¢ie presidential candidate in 1972. And
many people were already proclaiming him the framtier and, although of course he hadn't
announced any intentions. But the election in Mam1970 was seen as important to his
prospects for running for president. It was expédhat he would win by a large number and, so
therefore he had to win by a large number. And Was very concerned that his unpopularity,
which was based on the income tax, might be a dinafpe ticket. And he in fact talked to
Senator Muskie about that and had told him that Ife was going to be a drag on the ticket in
such a way that it would hurt Senator Muskie theatould not run for reelection. And Senator
Muskie said, no, | think you will be the strongeandidate that we can field and | think you
should run. And so, so Ken threw himself into ttzate knowing that he was far behind. And in
fact he actually got some results a couple of wéelsre election day that showed him still
losing rather badly to Attorney General Irwin areldmew that that information would be so
demoralizing to the staff that he kept that to lalhsOnly, like only Ken and perhaps Allen
Pease, his administrative assistant actually kiveset results. | think Senator Muskie and |
would bet Don Nicoll probably knew those result®,tbut they were not shared generally with
the staff.



So Ken was running far behind all the time, wasimig behind even as the end of the election
year, but he just threw himself heart and soul thad campaign and | think that by the sheer
energy of his personal campaign made a big diffexerOf course he benefited greatly, and he
would be the first to acknowledge this, from havBgnator Muskie at the top of the ticket. It
was a very strong ticket with Senator Muskie atttpe you had Congressman Hathaway
running for reelection, Congressman Kyros runnmgéelection, so the Democrats had a very
strong ticket and the only really tough race wag'&e So he was fortunate to be surrounded by
such strong candidates, | don't question it waig @lois for him. But in the end | think he won
by about five hundred votes, after a recount the almost completed, | think the attorney
general conceded before it was completed. Buhkthe, the final official tally was something
around five, a little over five hundred votes.

AL: That's close.

KL: That's very close.

AL: Even in a small state like Maine, that's close.
KL: That's very close, for sure.

AL: Where's the logical next step, in terms of wehdid you go after your time with Ken
Curtis?

KL: Well, as it turned out, | don't know if it wase logical, although it felt kind of, as you put
it, logical to me, because I, after Ken was reelgécand | should mention that I'd really been
serving as his legislative assistant and legal selunAnd for the period of his campaign for
reelection he asked me to take over his speechngrand press secretary responsibilities. Neil
Rolde, who among his many gifts was a wonderfutexyihad been doing that work for Ken but
Neil was running for | believe the house at thaietj so he was busy with his own campaign so
Ken asked me to take on that work, which | very megjoyed. And then after he was
reelected, he asked me to become his administrasisistant because Alan Pease, who had been
his administrative assistant, wanted to go badkaching at the University of Maine here in
Portland, at least he felt he had a commitmenttthdt for a year, and so | agreed that | would
be Ken's administrative assistant and | did tigatt | was ready to move on, | had now been
with Ken for, it would have been three years, drat tvas the period when Senator Muskie was
very much involved with his campaign for the presidy and | had an enormous regard for
Senator Muskie and was also, it would be frankatg gist drawn to the excitement of working
in a presidential campaign. | enjoy politics verych and | thought, well, there's a Maine
connection here to be sure, and | have enormopscefr Senator Muskie, and Washington
would be a great place to be. So it all seemefépigiand so | was fortunate enough to be hired
as a legislative aide in Senator Muskie's Sendigeof

AL: Now who actually hired you? Did you interviewith one of the staff, or Senator Muskie
himself?

KL: No, | did not interview with Senator Muskie tgelf. | interviewed with a fellow named



John McEvoy, who had fairly recently become Senktoskie's administrative assistant. And
I'd also, | knew George Mitchell very well becawdeny time in Maine, and | believe that
George had a significant role in those kinds ohlgidecisions as well. And in fact, | remember
some very limited sort of negotiations with Geooyer my salary because | had to be able to
live in Washington and of course they were all vaspcerned about the money available for
campaign staff, which | was not on the campaigff,stavas Senate staff. So | remember sort of
a brief | think on the corner on a street in Wagton a conversation with George about some
salary. So he was part of the hiring process| Hidn't interview with George because we
already knew each other. But since | was goinggetavorking closely with John McEvoy and |
had not met him before, | had to interview with dotAnd | don't remember anybody else that |
actually interviewed with. 1 think John was thei@al one. Well may-, there were already some
other legislative assistants there; | may have epokth them as well. But | think it was John
who actually offered me the position.

AL:  And so of course you knew who Senator Muskis préor to this. Do you have a
recollection of when you first met Senator Muskie?

KL: Well | certainly have a recollection of whefirst saw Senator Muskie. | don't know that
| can recall the first time that | actually met hirBut | do recall vividly a, | think it was problb

a Jefferson-Jackson Day dinner here in Portlansiwbuld have been in the fall of 1968, he was
running for vice president. And he did come to iMaior an appearance. Obviously he was
spending most of his time in other parts of thentoy but | remember the occasion was at the
exposition building here in Portland, the old Pamtd Expo, and the place went berserk when
Senator Muskie walked in. | mean, he obviously waseat hero, and people in Maine had not
seen much of him because he was so busy campaigrongd the country. And | just
remember the excitement of the crowd was infectious

And | think that was the first time that | hearch&®r Muskie speak in person, and he was
fabulous, | mean he was a wonderful speaker. Anddes speaking to a friendly, sympathetic
crowd, and he gave a real stem winder of a speadh @member that very well. It may not,

this is not a very important detail, it may not adeen a Jefferson-Jackson Day dinner because
I'm not sure he would have been campaigning in Blairthat late a stage of his campaign. But
in any event, it was sometime between SeptembeNandmber because | didn't get here until |
think mid or late September, so it was sometimeftda But that was the first time that | really
saw him in person, and it was a memorable occasiomdsevery, very impressive.

AL: Jumping ahead again to when you first becameraber of Senator Muskie's legislative
staff working with John McEvoy: what were somelwé things you worked closely with him
on?

KL: | had varied responsibilities. The, | didJéarly had legislative aide responsibilities. |
was responsible for covering legislative matterthanSenate. Senator Muskie was not around
very much to be participating in those things, @s gan imagine, but he was trying to maintain
some senatorial duties so | was involved in those.

| did a lot of writing, | worked on statements, spkes for the senator about various issues of the



day, | was, had particular liaison responsibilitiath a variety of task forces that had been set up
to advise Senator Muskie on matters such as pensiorm and welfare reform, primarily
domestic type matters. | remember that Maynardl Wiio sat right across the room from me,
Maynard was involved with foreign policy issues dmeas much more on the domestic side
working with Dan Lewis, who was the chief legislatiassistant; | did a lot of work with Dan.
And I just did a lot of writing, statements for teenator's speeches, covering a tremendous
variety of issues. One of the particular innovagiof John McEvoy which comes to mind was
the, we had several wire service machines that teneght into the office so that we could be

on top of fast-breaking news, and John decideaitlvbe a good idea to have me and a
gentleman named Joe Albright, who at the time wasied to Madeleine Albright, that we
should come in around six o'clock every morning ke a look at the wire service copy that
had come in over the night and decide what wereesairthe issues that Senator Muskie should
be commenting on that day. And so we were requoethch take an issue and write a proposed
statement for Senator Muskie, which could thendxed, if they had faxes in those days. They
had some way of communicating with the plane. Medvere supposed to write this copy, and
we did that both knowing that Senator Muskie wauddler use anything that we sent to him
because he, Senator Muskie liked to fully undestarerything and he would be reluctant to
just accept something that a couple of young fedlawthe office in Washington had composed
that morning. It was supposed to get to him byualBo30 or 9:00 so we always were preparing
these under some time pressure.

So, | remember Joe and | both said to ourselveésadalon't think this is going to work, and |
don't think in the two or three weeks that we thialtf that Senator Muskie ever used a single
thing that we prepared. And | remember that it aagxperiment that was abandoned after a
few weeks. But we had a good time doing it, antdais kind of exciting to try to put together
some good copy under those kinds of time pressiigscertainly knew what was going on in
the world because we were supposed to know whagwiag on in the world. But that
experiment was abandoned after a while. | thifilnJdcEvoy would agree that probably wasn't
one of his better ideas, but it was a good try | lolan't think it really worked. But I, as you
might expect if you were involved in preparing staents, speeches on domestic issues, you do
a lot of different stuff. | think it would be moexcurate to say | don't think | actually wrote
speeches directly for the senator, | would be pieganaterial that could then be used by the
speechwriters that the senator had. He had pkatispeechwriters, but | was preparing stuff to
be used, hopefully used, by the speechwriters.

AL: Your time on Ken Curtis' staff, compared withaw it was like on Senator Muskie's staff.
I know we're talking state and federal, but whatevsome of the differences in the way the
offices were run?

KL:  Well they were very different experiences far because Ken Curtis had a very small
office, there were really probably about six oresewf us who had important sort of
programmatic policy-making responsibilities. Amddarrying out those responsibilities we
worked, and | worked, very directly with Ken. | wagh him all the time, meeting with him at
the Blaine House, with him in the governor's offidevas fortunate enough to be one of his
principal advisors and so developed a great clesgopal working relationship with him.



| would not pretend that | had anything like thalationship with Senator Muskie. Senator
Muskie had a very, had a lot of people working viiiim, both in the Senate office and in the
campaign office, and | did not work directly witler&ator Muskie. Most of my work would go
to somebody like Dan Lewis who did work directhtlwvthe senator, or to John McEvoy. They
would take whatever | had worked on and then cangth the senator about it. So | did not
have that kind of immediate working relationshighwéenator Muskie, nor did | expect that |
would. So that was certainly very different.

And also | did not have the level of responsibititat | had had in Maine. | was given a great
deal of responsibility by the governor and lovedt{land was in a much more subordinate
position when | worked in Washington for Senatordiie. But | had known that would be the
case, and | did not mind or resent that. | knevatwydosition | would have and | felt fortunate to
have that position and loved that experience. thbutcome of what happened in that election
year, but | had a wonderful time. It was also g@ixciting as you can imagine and, at least until
the campaign started to falter, you know, we thowghwere going to be working for the
president of the United States and that was alveagly prospect. It was something that I'd be
frank to say | was very drawn to along with a lbbther people. But regrettably, it was not to
be.

AL: Did your position end then when the campaigs wxger, or did you continue to stay on?

KL: Essentially, no, | was really with Senator Mieslor, oh, about a year, just a little less
than a year actually. Yes, the campaign did end | aeally, | did not want to continue to be a
staff person for someone. That had been a worid=tperience and it was right for that time in
my life, but I really felt that | needed to stastdo some things for myself. And more
specifically | had really not practiced law. | hgotten out of law school and | had this job out
of law school for a year at the Justice Departménth was fine, that was a real lawyer's job.
But then | had been in government now for about j@ars and so | felt that if | was serious
about practicing law | thought | should probablytinat, that it was time to do that. And so, |
did not want to continue to work on Senator Musk#taff. | think | would have had that option,
but | decided it was time to move on to somethilsg.e

AL: Now | know that Peter Kyros, Jr. was working®enator Muskie's campaign at that time.
Did you, even though he was on the campaign andwaye legislative, did you have some
contact or get to know him at all?

KL: Not too well. | had met Peter from being iniMg and | saw him a bit during the
campaign. But he was very much on the campaigndidt, and so | really did not see Peter
very much. | think he was probably on the planthwhe senator. | think he may have been out
campaigning with the senator a lot. So | really mot see him very much.

AL: So at that point you left Senator Muskie'sfstaid did you come back to Maine to
practice law?

KL: 1did. I had to make a decision at that pdimtough some people, actually one particular
individual that | had met while working for Senatduskie, | was told that | could join a law



firm in Washington, which had some attractions.t Bouave to say my heart really was back in
Maine and Ken Curtis and | had talked about thesipdgy of starting a law firm when he left
office. He, having been reelected in 1970, stgréimew term in '71, he was going to be leaving
office in January of '75, so we talked about stgra law firm when he left office. So | decided
to go back to Maine and start to practice law, lgjndt opened an office by myself. | took a
little time off to, | took some time off to, | wreta book about Ken Curtis and my experiences
with him, and so | took that time after leaving &&m Muskie to do that, and then | had to take
the Bar exam, but, and | did that. So | was baddaine, and | think it was probably the fall of
1973 | started to practice law, and then | did thedugh the balance of '73 and 1974. Then
when Ken left office in January of '75 he and Id @acouple of other folks, started a law firm in
Portland. So we were back together again.

AL: Let me stop right there and change the tape.

End of Sde A
SdeB

AL: We are now on Side B of the interview with Jaidgermit Lipez. So you then went into a
law practice with Ken Curtis and some others. Tiad in 1975?

KL: Itwas.
AL: And at some point you were approached to beiapgal to the bench. When was that?

KL:  Well, I wish | could say that | was approachethecome a member of the bench. The
truth is that | thought | would like to be a membéthe bench and so | expressed an interest in a
position, and that was actually in, well | wenttbe bench, on the Superior Court in 1985. It
was, | think it was June of 1985. And some tinmamesthing like, well prior to that, probably

some time in 1984, a judge named Sumner Gaughimmaounced he was going to retire and
noticing that | realized that that might be someghthat | would like to do, and so | let then-
Governor Brennan know that | would be interested jadgeship if he were to look favorably
upon that idea, and eventually Governor Brennanimat@d me for the Superior Court. So |
cannot say that | was drafted by popular demanth®position. It was something that | had
indicated | would like to do and was able to gedwegh support to eventually be nominated.

AL: And on the Superior Court, | guess | know, t‘'ying to ask this the right way, | don't
want to ask about, you know, the cases, but whatittike going onto the court, can you speak
in those terms?

KL: Itwas, | loved it from the moment that | séatt The Superior Court is the, what's

formally called the Court of General Jurisdictiavhich is just a fancy way of saying that you

hear every kind of case imaginable: civil casesioal cases. Civil cases can involve disputes
of small significance except to the parties, | meana great deal of money or property

involved, to law suits involving huge sums of monagd some of them involving terrible

personal injuries. And on the criminal side you baar cases that are misdemeanors all the way
to murder cases. So there's a tremendous vaaiedyl, loved working with the lawyers and with



the juries, and it was a very, it was a very pubjpe of work and I loved, frankly, being back in
the public sector. | had loved my years workingw@ov. Curtis and Senator Muskie, and
although | enjoyed my years in private practicedrfd my associations very satisfying and
enjoyed the experience of building a law firm,ihthmy heart was always back in the public
sector. And so being a judge allowed me to combigenterest in the law, which was very
strong, with doing public service work which wasywenportant to me, so it was an ideal
combination. So | was very happy to be back inpiielic sector, and loved going to work every
day because everyday was a little different, thneas always something new, something
unexpected, there was nothing routine about itd Areally felt very fortunate to be doing that
kind of work, and still do feel fortunate to be ngithat kind of work; it's great work.

| actually, | have some, either now or later, Ildwve some specific memories of Senator Muskie
which | could share at some time.

AL: Now is great.

KL: Okay. | was just, although | was there, amidi sa little less than a year, there are several
incidents that | recall which may be of some inseéreOne, | thought was rather poignant,
actually, was when Senator Muskie, and | would @liduts | think probably in | would say
January of 1972 when he was really about to embark very intensive national campaign. |
remember he brought us all into his Senate officepersonal office, (by all | mean everybody
who was working on his Senate staff and peopldatecommittee staff as well), so he brought
us all together. I think in part, | know John Maivthought this meeting was important because
we all, although we all accepted the fact that s not work directly with Senator Muskie, |
think we all missed the fact that we did not seeentd, did not have much personal interaction
with him. And John knew that that was a frustmati®&o he thought it was important for morale
| think that the senator meet with staff personaBo we had this meeting and it was very
revealing. Because | remember Senator Muskie gawiall of us that he had no doubt at all
about his ability to handle the presidency andaswomething that he would, without
minimizing the responsibilities that he would liteedo and thought he could do well, but he had
to admit he did not look forward to the campaigeadhwith the demands of daily campaigning.
That was something that he did not particularipgnand he was telling us that because he
said, look, if | seem short with you at times, #dem unappreciative at times, it's, I'm not trying
to be unkind, I'm not minimizing the importancewdiat you do. It's just that sometimes I'm not
as considerate as | should be because this i©nwthing that | really enjoy doing all that

much.

And it was, | thought it was a very revealing conmtnéhat he would acknowledge and share
with us a certain foreboding about the demande®tampaign itself. So, getting there was not
something that he, the process of getting thereneasomething he looked forward to. Getting
there | think was something that he was very eamdo. And | thought that was a very
revealing moment. And we, | know we all apprealatées candor.

| also remember a time when for some reason, thgsseme months later and | think this was
after the senator was back in the office a lot nbi@eause he had | think withdrawn from active
campaign because the campaign had not gone well. ti#e one thing you never wanted to have



to do in Senator Muskie's office was drive himtte airport, because Senator Muskie was, | had
been told, a notorious back seat driver, alwayisted that he knew the best way to get wherever
you were taking him. And taking him to an airpeds a particularly grueling experience
because he was always afraid he was going to imesglane. And so for some reason, they
couldn't find anybody else to drive him to the ampl was there, and John McEvoy asked me to
drive the senator to the airport. And I didn't Wn@/ashington that well. | knew how to get to
National Airport by a particular route, and | renfmas luck would have it the one route that |
knew, the streets were blocked of, there was roadtouction or something. So we had to go a
different way and | do recall Senator Muskie's fasioascibility came to the fore because |
didn't know where | was going, and we were runriaig, and it looked like he was going to

miss his plane and he was not happy. And | jusavie never been so nervous in my life,

driving the car, and | had this old stick shift ®invhich was hardly a car worthy of Senator
Muskie and, (although he never groused about th&u}.| do remember that that was an anxious
trip for me to the airport, and we did just getrthan time. But | do remember at the end, I'll
always remember this, he was actually quite gracaituhe end. Once we got there and he knew
he was going to make the plane, he thanked meakarg him there. And I, that was my,

perhaps my most extended personal visit with SeMatskie, but probably not the ideal
circumstances.

And the other vivid memory that | have, this iscaléhen Senator Muskie was back off the
campaign trail, and in fact not only was he off tdaenpaign trail but this was after the
convention when Senator McGovern had been nominaied | was still working for the
senator and | was now spending a lot of time orSieate floor as a legislative aide. And |
remember | was sitting with Senator Muskie on theah at the back of the Senate chambers and
Senator McGovern, who was also on the floor, caveg and sat down next to Senator Muskie,
and this was not long after Senator Eagleton hadttalraw because of the revelations about
the psychiatric treatment he had received. AndaerMcGovern was without a vice
presidential candidate, and there had been soncellgtien that he might ask Senator Muskie to
be his vice presidential candidate because thememad performed so brilliantly in that role in
1968 and the feeling was that Senator Muskie wbtiltg a lot to the ticket and perhaps help
make up for some of the deficiencies that were seéme McGovern campaign, and in Senator
McGovern at that time.

So Senator McGovern came over and sat down néenator Muskie, and | wasn't trying to
eavesdrop, | had just been sitting there talkin§eaoator Muskie about some piece of legislation
that was on the floor, and | heard Senator McGosgerhof introduce to Senator Muskie the
possibility of his joining him on the ticket. Heddhot offer it to him, but he just, | remember
Senator McGovern acknowledged the problems thatdsehaving, and | don't pretend to
remember the exact words now, but there was... Tiustlof the conversation was, would you
think you might have any interest in serving as sgyying with me as the vice presidential
candidate. And Senator Muskie took it in, was monmittal; certainly did not reject it out of
hand. And | remember Senator McGovern left anca@erMuskie and | finished our
conversation about whatever the legislative busimess, and | remember sort of walking back
to the Senate office having this ethical dilemmaelan, | had just heard what was clearly a very
significant conversation, and was | to treat tisasart of confidential so that | couldn't tell
anybody back in the office about it, or shoulddtjwait for the senator to share it with



whomever he wanted to share it. And I, wheth@sblved it properly or improperly | don't
know, but | really could not keep that to myself.

AL: Had to tell somebody.

KL: | had to tell somebody. And | assumed, anahltc| think | either told Dan Lewis about

it or John McEvoy. I'm sure | would have, | wantedell John about it, | suspect | told Dan
about it, but | do remember, the reaction in tHeeffrom whomever | told about this was not
very positive. | do remember this, in the sensétthat would not be a good idea. Then of
course it soon became known in the office that, thait from me, I'm sure the senator must have
shared it with, obviously with John and I'm surkestpeople as well.

And there was then, it became public as | redadlt Senator McGovern had approached Senator
Muskie about doing that, and then there was a gaicome days, not a lot of days because
Senator McGovern needed to resolve the matter gipmpBut there was a period of some days
where there was a lot of speculation about whelesiator Muskie would or would not do it,

and he obviously consulted with people who wereg eirse to him and important to him, and
obviously ultimately decided not to do it which wasarly the right decision. But | did feel at

the time like | was, not purposely, but | was eavepping on a little bit of history and | do have
a, | do have a very vivid memory of that conversati

AL: So you went from the Superior Court, then anNtaine Supreme Judicial Court, and now
you're on the U.S. Federal First District CourApipeals?

KL: Right, that's -

AL: | say that carefully because there's so maifigrent levels or ways to be on the court.
What is the biggest difference going from the stexel to the federal?

KL:  Well, the biggest difference is that thera& jp vast new body of law that | have to deal
with. Certainly as a state Supreme Court judgeetivere some federal law issues that we'd deal
with, but most of the law that | dealt with wascolurse state law, or common, common law or
state statutory law on the United States Courtmeals. Although we have some diversity
cases that involve state law issues, most of whatihvolves federal law. That's an enormous
body of law, so I have, | must say, working verychaver the last three years trying to develop
some mastery of this vast body of law, and it'segfascinating. But there's a lot of it out there.

AL: Yes, thereis a lot of it. Do you, | mean ysmut of train on the job, in effect, right?
KL: That's correct, there is no question about that

AL: You're always learning and always referringhi federal law when something comes
before you.

KL: Yes, the, most of the cases that | deal witiolive federal statutes. The exception to that
is the occasional diversity case where, becauserdegal principles we use state law as the



basis for making the decisions, so some of thattsliar to me. But those cases are really the
exception, so, | spend most of my time working viétieral statutes of one kind or another.
And not only is there a lot of federal law out #aegput a lot of it is very complicated so it's, and
there's a lot of law, a lot @bses that have been decided over the years in relédidmose
statutes. So there's a lot of law to accountdorthere's a lot to learn. But | enjoy that preces

AL: Is there anything that | haven't asked thdtyré@aves out something significant that you
felt you'd like to talk about today? Or any reeotions you have?

KL: | am trying to think about other recollectiasfs particularly of Senator Muskie that stand
out. The only other one that comes to mind, amg] tho, was in the, through the early stages of
his campaign, | remember that | was invited tonglwith some other staff members, to hear
Senator Muskie make the very important speechad\gtional Press Club. That's an important
forum in Washington, and this was again very efrlyis campaign. He was the acknowledged
frontrunner at that point, and | remember thataswa really brilliant performance. He gave a set
speech and then he took questions, and he was wohde

He was very eloquent, he was very clear, and yolddell that that rather difficult audience, the
press corps there, were, you could tell they werg impressed with him. They knew that they
were dealing with a man of great consequence whainb/ had the stuff that was needed to be
the president.

And | just remember we all felt so proud that weevassociated with this Senator Muskie and
with that campaign. And I'm sure you've heard frmamy people, as brilliant a speaker as
Senator Muskie was, he wasn't always on sometirHesone large flaw | guess as a speaker
was sometimes he went on too long. But not that diée, perhaps because of the format, it was,
there were time limits, he was really masterfuhdAt's, when you think about those kind of
occasions you can't help but feel sad that the aagnpended the way that it did. | think that, |
truly believe that Senator Muskie would have beénapresident, and | do think that that
conversation he had with the staff folks back e 8enate office as he was about to embark on
the campaign was actually quite revealing and mesways rather prophetic because he was
telling us that he did not relish the campaign.dAithink some of that came through on the
campaign trail. | think that maybe the enormoumaleds of that were perhaps even more than
he had bargained for, despite having been thraughl@68. | think there's a, there's a
difference between being the vice presidential hatd and the presidential candidate. And |
think he, maybe because he just didn't like itttk much, that he had some of the problems that
he did on the campaign trail. But he was a veeyy gifted man, and | just, | do remember that
speech at the National Press Club. It was realgmaarkable performance and | think was
indicative of just what a brilliant man he was avitat an inspirational figure he could be. So |,
for a lot of reasons, | wish the outcome of 197d@lddave been very different. | think he would
have been a fine president.

AL: | have sort of a tough question for you in temhrecollections during that campaign.
Was there a, was there a certain day when yownaivkhis campaign was over. | mean, was
there a day when he came and said it was overasithere the event in New Hampshire when
you said, or was it later? Do you have a sensmwafthat played out?



KL: Thatis a hard question, but | do recall, | traared the teletype machines that we had in
the office that Joe Albright and | used to writesh daily statements. | do recall one of those
mornings seeing on the teletype machine the stooytaevents in Manchester the night before
where Senator Muskie had been on the flatbed wutéide thevianchester Union Leader
denouncing William Loeb for his unfair attacks omsMMuskie. And the story describes
Senator Muskie as having wept or broken into teaese was some description like that. And |
do remember, perhaps | was talking to Joe, pertiegpe were some others, that we, we had a
sense that this was not good, that just becaueafiay the story was immediately being played
that this could be trouble.

And we already knew that Senator McGovern was ngakome real inroads in Senator Muskie's
support, and we all knew very large expectationsSknator Muskie in New Hampshire because
he was practically a native son, being from theestext door. And we, | cannot say that we
knew that was the moment when it was all over, argainly didn't have that sense. But we

knew there was trouble here and we thought thatabuld be trouble in New Hampshire. And

of course that turned out to be true. And redlpugh Senator Muskie won New Hampshire, he
did not meet the expectations for winning in Newrighire and because of that, and because he
had been the acclaimed frontrunner for so long,libaeally never recovered his footing after
that.

And so it, it actually, | think what was almost atietaking was how quickly he went from the
status of frontrunner, acclaimed as the likely numsi to a candidate whose campaign was
essentially, is essentially over. That happeney, wery quickly. And that was, it was very
hard. And, as I'm sure you know, he did not, hiaeview from campaigning, he did not
withdraw from the campaign itself. And | know thewas a lot of debate within the campaign
about that. | was not privy to any of that, buthags, I'm sure you've spoken to folks who were,
and | think there were a lot of people who felttthea should have withdrawn before the
nominating convention, that he should not havequdds name in nomination. But | know he
felt very strongly about that. And | actually g@ry involved in the preparation for the
convention.

| was, | did a lot of work with the Rules Committaed the Credentials Committee, and so |, for
me personally | was very happy that Senator Mud&i@ded to stay in because | had that
experience. |did go to the convention in Miantiald a role there. And | suppose there may
have been some sense that, you know, one neversknbat's going to happen, that the
McGovern campaign might flounder at the end or 4bing might happen. And so Senator
Muskie would be there to step into the void if avees created. But that was not a happy time. |
know it was very difficult for the senator.

| actually saw more of him during that period ohé because once he withdrew from
campaigning he was back in Washington and he wersdspg a lot more time on the Senate
floor, so | was, | spent a lot of time on the Serfldor to cover legislation, advising him about
legislation. And | could tell that it was not appg time for him, | think that was very hard.

And | suppose, although this is not the way | wdntéo be, it wasn't, that was the one time that
| really did actually work very personally with Sgar Muskie. | mean, | would, as | was
describing that episode with Senator McGovern, ameé was on the floor a lot and it was my



job to, when the senator would come onto the ftodell him sort of what was happening
legislatively and to try to give him some advice.

Giving Senator Muskie advice was not the easiaésttim the world because | never seemed to
have answers for all the questions that he askisdhad this very agile, probing mind and |
always felt that | hadn't quite been up to theijothe sense | just didn't haal the answers that
he clearly wanted. But I, it was just very chafjery to try to meet his standards.

AL: | don't think you were alone in that.

KL: |think that's fair, | think that's fair. Addyuess, well, | can't think of any other particula
moment. | guess the only other thing that | waadd is that in later years, although | didn't see
Senator Muskie very much, | did see him a few timedss capacity as chairman of this
commission on the Legal Needs for the Poor, whiak ®; it's just a tribute to him, and so
characteristic of him that he would want to do tkiatl of work. And what | admire so much is
that he really threw himself into that work. Hesa@ot about to be a figurehead, sort of an
honorary chair. If he was going to do that, he g@isg to really work at it, and he did, and |
think that's very much to his credit.

This may be one of the last things | would sayé& t was really thrilled when | was sworn in

for this Court of Appeals job that | had asked Misiskie if she would please come to the
swearing in, and she did and it was just wondddgee her again. And when | was going
through that whole process for the nomination andfiomation, | made contacts with a lot of
people that I'd known very well from the time thatorked with Senator Muskie and they were
very helpful to me, and that was, it was very ni@ée able to renew those acquaintances. But
it's sort of an example of that sort of continuhgt a place like Maine offers. You make these
friends over the years and somehow they're seliglwhen you may need them, or, and that was
very nice. In fact Anita who's very involved indtproject was a, | sort of reconnected with
Anita during that time which was wonderful, and s¥es very helpful to me.

AL: Thank you so much for your time.
KL: My pleasure.

(Taping stopped)
(Interview resumed)

AL: This is an additional couple of questions angbbject of Frank Coffin. Could you tell
me what your experiences and relationship has wé&brhim over the years?

KL: Well my closest association with Judge Coffas neally come in, well recent years, since
I've, since | became a judge. And | now have thgwar pleasure of serving in the very seat
that he held. He refers to me as his grandsorukechguess that makes Judge Cyr his son, and
I'm his grandson because I'm sort of one judge veshé@rom Judge Coffin. But the, just the
pleasure of now being able to work so closely with is just, is truly a singular pleasure. He is
clearly one of the giants of our legal professiatianally, and yet he is just as accessible and



down-to-earth as anyone could be. He's just gldeto work with.

And for me, when I'm with Judge Coffin and we startalk about Maine political history which

| still retain a lot of interest in, | mean | fd&h at the source because in many ways, as you well
know, in conjunction with Senator Muskie, he creaadot of our modern political history. |
mean, there's no question that he and Senator Blusiated the modern Democratic Party.

And for me, having come to Maine in 1968 and haviegrd second hand a lot about those early
years, when | can actually talk to Judge Coffinwdtibat and hear from him directly, I just find

it fascinating. And | guess the only way in whiaould compare myself with Judge Coffin is
that | think we both retain a great love of pobt&nd so we're, we are constrained in our public
roles from being political and talking about ittlvhen we're together privately there are no
such constraints, and we both enjoy talking abolitips a lot. And I'm often asking him
guestions about the Maine political history thahleéped to create and write, so |, it's always just
a treat for me to be with him. And, | mean he&,jas you've heard from many others and | will
simply confirm, he is just a remarkable, remarkad#eson because he is so brilliant, and yet he
is so down-to-earth and has a wonderful commonhcaied he's just a joy to be with.

And I'm pleased that recently he got a little Iggablicity because he got this very prestigious
award called the Devon Award for law and distingeis service to the federal judiciary. And |
think as often happens, there are a lot of folkgl&ne who simply do not realize what a
treasure Judge Coffin is. Nationally in traditiblemal circles people know that, but in Maine |
think, because he's been out of the limelight aeng years, | think that is insufficiently
appreciated. So | was glad to see that there @ras snore recent recognition of what a
remarkable figure he is. And, | mean | have nobddat he, | would bet Senator Muskie would
acknowledge this, that even with all of Senator Kiels great successes, without Frank Coffin
there at the beginning | suspect a lot of that wawdt have happened.

So he's, he is absolutely one of the giants in Blalitical, legal, and judicial history and he is

a treasure. And like a lot of people | cannot w@itead his memoirs because he was there at the
beginning of so much that's important about a fahodern Maine political history. So I look
forward to reading that.

AL: Thank you very much.

End of Interview
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